Chapter XVI.
The Mills on Turkey River.

Records of oldtime Concord invite contrast with present day condi-
tions and nowhere is the contrast more vivid and interesting than in
Millville.Iwo centuries ago a primitive grist mill was the center of
a few farmsﬁensuing years saw a little hamlet w;th varying industrles
grow up around the mill.Today the industries hafe venished and the
farms are the property of St.Paul's School,oné of the famous preparatory
schools of the country.Ancient highways have been changed in thelr
course that the School may be safe-guarded in thils day of motor traffice.

In foilowing the story of Millville,it is necessary to understand

such highway changes.The first road from Concord to Dunbarton ran direct
ly through the present School grounds,turning at the flagpole to cross
the dam on Turkey river before swinging ﬁest on the south side of the
mill pond.A branch road,opened in 1829,extended this Dunbarton road fron
the flag pole along the north side of the mill pond tc a point west of
Coit House and there joined the original road.Coit House,an orpﬁanage
of later date,stood directly facing S1lk Farm road until razed in re=-
cent years.This branch road is now & private road entirely withigyses-
jdential part of the School property..

In I9I9 a loop road was opened east of Alumni Hepouse ﬁo join the
0ld Dunbarton road at Friendly House,thus lessenlng trafflc th?ogh the
compact center of the School.The first road from Concecrd to Hopkinton
ran directly directly past the entrance to the Infirmary but In I929
the section from the entrance to the Schodl grounds west to the cemetery
was re-located somewhat to the north and along the hillslde.

The pioneer in Millville was Barachias Farnum who,wlth Henry Love-
joy of Andover,received the grant of one humdred forty acres of Jand
'and the right to flow"the swamp betwixt the first and second falls be-
low the lowest pond on Turkey River.," Today the only relic of this en-

terprise is the dam and mill pond created in I732 to furnish power for
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the first grist mill on this side of the Merrimack.Iit was Barachise Fare
num who settled on the grant for the mill and there 18 no record that
Henry Lovejoy ever lived in our town.His son,Capt.Henry,settled on Rat-
tlesnake brook some ten or more years later.The School Athletic Fielad
of today 1is part of 'the cultivated land of‘the 0ld Mill Farm and the
house 8tood approximately on the site of present Scudder.After long so-
Jurn,the garrison marker 1s at last in 1ts historic place.

Barachias Farnum and his wife were early members of the Rumford
church, Joining by letter from thelchurch in Andover.Other members Jolning
about that time were Seaborn Peters and his wife,ligry,coming with letters
from Andover.Peters purchased in I738,twenty-seven acres of land bounded
east"by the brook or branch of Turkey river"and north by"Turkey Boggs".i:
This tallies with the tradition that he lived north of Peters Brook, later
known as Bela's brook({see Chap.I7,p.I5).The family is listed in the local
garrison in IT46.A daughter,Manngh,married Benjamin Fifield and thelir
first son(b.I749) was named for Hannah's brother,Obadiah Peters,victim ot
the 1746 massacre.A second son,Benjamin,Jr.,served during the Revolution
in Col Bedell's regiment.

~Jonathan Fifleld served in September I1754,probably scouting une-
der Cgbt.John Chandler and again in 1756 in Capt.Jjohn Goffe's company
enliated §§?§Crown Pgint expedition.In I762 he was buying an elght acre
lot south of land still owned by Barachias Farnum near Turkey river.Meann
while "Seaborne"Peters sold his farm in I75I,to his son-in-law Fifielad
and migrated to Hopkinton.Long ago an elghteen acre farm which lay in the
angle of the old Dunbarton road now occupled by Sheldon Library,was
known as the"Howe place"and traditlon tells that earlier it had been a
Fifleld homestead.In 1836 the bounds‘of this little farm were:Dunbarton
road on the east and the south:"New Dunbarton road"on the north and Cure
rier road on the weet.Currier road was later called Saw Mill road and

is now Dole road,
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On thils farm stood the old house shown in oupr pleiture,long the home of
the resident miller.It was falling to ruin when the School purchased 1t
and restored it to be a master's residence.The pleture taken from below
the dam shows 1t after restoration.Wnen,in I878 the the main bulldlng of
the Sehool was destroyed by lightning,the miller’s house was rebullt with
.2 new roof and used as a dormitory.Finally 1t waé moved to 1ts present
gite oﬁ the south slde of Dunbarton road to maké way for the building of
Sheldon Librarye.Now the oldest bullding in MAillville,it may well be a link
with the ploneer Peters and Fifield families.

The grist mill stood on the site of Hargate and continued to operate
ﬁntil I878=-a plcturesque o0ld red bullding in its latter days.Not long af-
ter 1t was bullt & saw mill was erected on the opposite side of the stream
and continued in use until IB66.Next south of this milivstood the house
here plctured which was oscupied by the miller after the School purchased
the first miller's house.In due time Fhis house also passed Into possessiol
of the School and 1ts barn was rebuilt 1ntova School Commons.Friendly
House now stands on this site.

In I742 a young man named Ebenezer Hall purchased from Barachias
Farnum a hundred and more acres of land on the south side of Dunbartcn
road,it being a part of an eighty acre lot and"part of the Farm laid out
for the Mille on Turkey river."Shortly afterward Ebenezer married Hephzie
bah,daughter of Barachlas Farnum,and in I744 thelr sonjBbenczer Jr.;,was
born.Fifteen days later the young mother dled and very soon after,Barachi-
as sold his farm and,saddened by his daughter{s untimely death,he moved
away from Runford.In the early summer of I746,the young widower married
Dorcas Abbot{b.I728) and they raised a family of ten children én this
farm.Thelr house stood on the gouth side of Dunbarton road aboub where the
ochool barn stcod for many years opposite Dole road.In I758 Ebenezer Hall

bought another parcel of 1and from Barachias Farnum then resident in
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in Haverhlll,Mass.The farm eventually becawme the property of Ebenezer

Hall,Jr. but the housé burned many years ago.iben Hall was reputed to be
the one man in the neighborhood who had money to lend.Whenever he made
g2 loan,he wrote the debtor's note on the celling in his house where 1t
advertised the transaction to all who sntered.This expedited payment.
Lieut.Timothy Bradley who lived on the Mountalin,purchased land
west of Silk Farm road and there his son,Samuel,Jy. built a house to
which he brought his bride,Catherine Green,sister of Esg.Peter CGreen,
Concord's first lawyer.Their daughtér married Ebenezer Hall's grandson,
#Hoses,in I8I3 and it was their son,Charles Hall(b.I8I4)who built the
house on the old Bradley farm which stands today as pictured.The ell is,
in part at least,the ancient Samuel Bradley house.Charles Hall was a
famllier figure to the boys of St.Paul's School in its early years.
Jeremiah Bradley's homestead in Millville has been recorded in
Chapter VII.He owned land here prior to I737 and his farm lay west of
.%illvllle cemetery on the Hopkinton road.His log house and the frame
house which replaced it about I750,8tood on the south side of the farm
&#nd neighborly to that of Samuel Bradley across the Dunbarton road.Jerry
Bradley's name is on the list of signers of the Test Act( I776)and Samuel
was one of the"minute men" who volunteered for the"Oxford War"(I797)
M1llville abounds in memories of the I746 massacre.The scene of that
horror was not where the monument stands today,but somewhat to the south
of the present highway and on the east side of a 1little brook which ran
into Turkey river.It is probable that a trail which rén in & more direct
line to the grist mill preceded the Hopkinton road of today.¥hen Alexan-
der Roberts,one of the militlia men taken captive that day,returned from
Canada,he ldentiflied the place where the savages stopped to bury two of
thelr dead in the"Great Swamp"under large hemlock logs,and he alsdioe

cated the burial place of two other savages in mud farther up Turkey rive
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er.Roberts recelved a bounty for one of these Indians whose bones were
found at the place he identified."Great Swamp" was the name given to
the bog land around Turkey pond.
The terror of I7T46 drove the settlers near the mills to itake ref-
uge on the village street.The grist mill was deserted while ralding Sa%:
ages kllled the cattle left in the pastures and destroyed the crops in
the fielda.But happler days were to come when thé men and thelr wives
and their children could safely return to rebuild their homes and-re»
plant their flelds and when the miller could once more grind the corn
for their daily bread.
ﬁear the ravine at the upper falls through which the Indians made
thelr hasty retreat after the massacre,a saw mili.was built near the
north end of present Dole road.In later years it ceme to be known as
Powell's Hook after Benjamin éowell,a drummer in the Revolution.He
married a daughter of Jerry Bradley and the couple made theilr home
near the mlll of which he was the proprietor.Dole road,originally Cure
rier road,was laid out in I778 and named for a family who were early
settlers there.The first of this family in Concord seems to have been
William Currier,"cordwainer",who arrived in Rumford between I750 and
1760 and married Molly Carter,daughter of Daﬁiel Carter, the foundry-
man at Iron Works.Thelr home was near the junction of Silk Farm road
and Clinton St.,but in I794 they moved to ?1ymouth.80me of their de-
scendents remalned in Concord for the name 1s a familiar one even to
this day.Within recent years,a little old red house at Powell's Hook
was torn down by the School,sald to have been,a century or more ago,
the howe place of Samuel Curriler and his son,Samuel L.Currrier.In I836
the son sold this place of four acres with the house .and purchased}thir-
ty acre farm in the angle made by the"new Hopkinton road"( recently
renamed Currier road) which has been improved as alternative to the rocad
over Dimond hill.Samuel L.Currier dutifully lessed his new farm to his
Fathar and mofher for lifa .
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Directly west of Powell's Hook lies Fush Market,a name whose origén -
8111l a2 mystery.This is the section where derry Bradley's large farm
lay and its growth in later years into a little hamlét,was probably
‘due to an excellent bed of clay on the south side of the hlghway,which
invited brick and pottery making. One old house stands in Fush Market
bullt by John Corliss(b.I777)who came hither from his father's home in
lron Works District.ie purchased seventy acres on the south side of the
road and nineteen on‘the north-both being a part of the original Brade
ley farm.fBeing a carpenter by trade,corliss bullt his own house about
1822 on the south side of the road,but in 1ater yeara it was moved to
stand on the west corner of Lgng pond road.

One of the last of several potters at Fuéh Market was Joseph
Haseltine(b.I799),s0on of Ballard Haseltine and grandson of Joseph Hage
Haseltine of Silk Farm road.Ffrom 1820 till 1824, the young man taught
school at Iron Works and then turned to the trade of potter.He lived
to four score years on a farm lying west of Upper School and his small
house stood at the west fork of Loop road.His pottery shop was close
by and the inventory of his estate(I88I) gives this 1ist of"stock in
trade" :"Lard pots,bean pots of various 8izes, Jugs,chambers,milk pans" -
all doubtless in the coarse brown ware,

Haseltine was preceded by numerous other potters who utllized
the clay bed at Fush Market and among them was Richard Flandera,ir. who
belonged to a family influential in early Millville.As early as IT7%9
his father,Richard,Sr.(b.I72%)came with his family from Salisbury,Mass.
and in time,he owned the land on the north side of Hopkinton road from

Fisk road west to Fush Mgrket.In IT62 he was operating the grist mili
built by Barachias Farnum and the family acquired "the Runnels privi-

lege"on Turkey river between the two ponds.
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There were five sons in the Planders family and three of them
marrled daughters of Danlel ChandlereRlchard,Jr.,Abner and Oliver.Each
ofthe flve recelved a share ln the father's large holdings in Millvilas
Abner served as an officer at Bennington.Oliver and his ﬁife,Abigailx
had ten children born 1n Concord and in I8IG they removed to West Plym-
outhe.Abner and Philip,youngest of the brothers,moved away from town so
that Richard,Jr. wés ﬁhe only one to remain in Millvillegﬁe married a
seventeen yéartold widow,Molly(Chandler)West and theif home was on the
weat corner of Hopkinton road and "the road to John Blanchard's" (Fisk
road today).This two acre place he bought in I8I3 with"house,barn and
potter’'s shop"from Peter Flanders of Plymouth.There Richard,Jr.carried
on his making of bréwn Jugs,crocks etc.In later years he bought a farm
on the west slope of Pine hill(District No.4) and moved there.His father
and mother spent their last years in that home. '

Descendents &ﬂ}the next generatlons of the Flanders family cone
tinued to live 1in Millville and P.Flanders is said to have built the hip
rocfed house shown in our picture,in I804.In I873 it was remodelled for
& master's residence.Woodbury Flanders,last miller at the"old red mill}

bullt a cottage which is now the ell of the Master's house directly
across the road from the Infirmary.A short distance west of this house
ls the spring or well which Woodbury Flanders deeded to the School in
1859 "with the right to deepen and enlarge"for School use.This provided
the water supply for the School in those early days.

In I803 Oliver Flanders sold the property now No,3IO Pleasant St.
and described as part of the original grant to Barachias Farhum.PossiblY
he had a house there.In I838 the place came into possession of Thomas
W.Abbott,descendent of Dea.George Abbot,and a story and half house then
stood on the lot.Mr.Abbott added a second story for hls growing family.

Hls thirty acre farm was on the corner of Hopkinton road and Fisk road.

A famous builder in his day,"he and one other,framed all the railroad
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puildings from Nashua to Concord,inclusive,besides flour mills at Pome
broke and many other buildings throughout this section.
‘ The most famous of Millville potters was Daniel Clark who moved
gé;e from Lyndborough in I79I,bringing with him his wife and little
daughteriMary.Their first home wae the 1little house shown ln our pic=
ture which still stands with little change at 297 Pleasant St.Clark's
first pottery stood east of the house and back of trees now growing on
the lot,and there he did s flourishing business.About I8I0 he buklt
the large house at 294-96 Pleasant St.which keeps much of 1ts original
h)QKdMeantime Daniel Clark had purchased the bed of clay at Fush Mgrket
from Israel Dimond,son of Ezekiel Dimond,the pioneer on Dimond hill.
"potter" Dimond must have been one of the earliest to carry on this
trade and he sold out only because he was movling to Wgrnere
Mr.Clark kept a careful diary in which he recorded the developw
ment of his business and many matters of local interest.From his rec-
ord we understand that the clay for his product was dug and hauled as
soon as the ground dried in the spring,then turned 1lnto ware and fired
in the killns.A staple product was milk pans.Red lead and bar lead were
essential for the glaze and all his life Daniel Clark suffered from
colic and lameness symptomatic of lead poisoning-a dlsease not then
recognized as to cause.
Clark's filrst sale was made to Maj.Caleb Stark of Dunbarton and
from then on,the ware was distributed by carit throughout and ever-
widening area which finally included Plymouﬁﬁénd the countryside
around Memphramagog.Payment might be in cash but often 1t was in bare
ter for paper rags and various commodities.Hence Daniel Clark opened
a store on his premises for the disposition of this miscellaneous
collectlion. 4
In"Horae Scholpgsticae”for April 1924, there is an article on

"Millville Pottery" written by William W.Flint,master at the School
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Ground reade.Coming from Amherat to Concord in iﬁ?i,%roFarmgr did vale
uable work in historical and genealogical research and Dr.Bouton ac-
knowledges in his History,a debt for such data.He wag corresponding
gecretary for the N.H.Anti-Slavery Soclety.His 1life was shortened be-
cause he fell victim to old-fashioned"slow consumption” and died in
1838 before his fifﬁieth birthday.When his 1illness became despérate the
Clarke: took the invalid into their home and ministered to him with all
tenderness.

It is a family tradition that the gellar of the Clark house hid
at least one runaway slave on his desperate’eseape to Canada and free-
dom.This 1s credible for Miss Mary was heart and soul in the cause of
the black people.Although devoutly religlous,she abjured church and
cl%éy because they hesitated to adopt her attitude of militant opposie
tion to slavery."A short time before her death(I84I)she prepared a pa-
per glving her dying testimony -being on the brink of Jordan-agalnst

: wi
all those ministers and churches who have refused to pray for the slave.

With utter consistency,she directed that her funeral should be without
parade and without the ceremony of an officlating clergymane.

The times were bltter and such extremes were all too common
among the anti-slavery enthusiasts who seemed to lose all sense of pré-l
portion iq?heir insistent call for immediate reformiThettrggedy for
Mary Clark was that her fanatic apirit left this sphere before that day,
80 many years later,when churches and ministers and newspapers and the
public generally,folloﬁed a leader raised by God and inspired to de-
clare:"This nation cannot endure permanently half slave and half free."

There was a time when old John Shute, the Rogers Ranger,owned_the
MI11l Farm and a number of his descendents lived in Millville.Perhaps
the first so to do,was John,Jr. whogse home was on the north side of
the Dunbarton road within the present School grounds,until‘his death

in 1822 .His widow continued to make her home there and a deed mentlions
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in I822.His widow continued to make her home there and a deed mentions
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across the road from the clay bed.He owned considerable land esast of
Dimond road(foot of Dimond hill)and carried on a brickyard on'the prem-
1868 .An 1858 map shows the brickyard still owned by & Currier.There were
other industries in and near Millville,including an oldvfulling mill
and a shingle>m111 on the stream between Great curkey and Little Turkey,
known in old days as Runnell’ % Mills.Further reference to this will be
found in the following chapﬁerg ‘
Israel Dimond had a bfother,Abner,who owned a farm on the $outh
slde of Hopkinton road a little west of the clay béd»In I810,Joshua Cure
rier purchased the east half of the house and teh acres of the land.Afte:
Abner Dimond's death in 1848,his half of the‘house and the adjoining

land became the property of Nathan Lévejoy-who 1ater’bought in Joshua
Currier's part of the original farm.By I873 the farm passed again into
ownership of a Currier famlly and is owned today by hkhe descendents.The
present owner was told by hls grandfather that seven Currier families
uged to live 1in the neighborhood.It 1s possible that the house standing
at Currler's Camps dates well back toward Abner Dimond's time.

Mr.Dimond had a son,Abner,Jr4 and he,in turn,had a son,Luther,

whoi:.owned a small ﬁlace in the angle made where the branch road of 1829

Joined the original Dunbarjon road. Luther and a brother built a little
house there for their father and mother tp use in theilr old age,but only
the cellar hole could be found in recent years.Luther Dimond's own house
became the first orphanage at Cdit House,but as that institution geew
the house was replaced by a larger one.The bgrn on Luther's place was made
over for use at the orphanage and so continued until Colt House was clogec
and later torn down.
The first brick dwelling in all Concord was bullt in Millville by

Ensign Jacob Carter 1n I803;doubtless the brick was made from Fush Market
clay.It stood next west of "Shuting Lodge" and was a square,plain edifice

sufflciently roomy to serve as a tavern on occaslon.Jacob Czrier was .Lhe
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currently proprietor of the mills.He was born In Iron Works Qiﬁtrlet,son
of Daniel Cgrter,and during thé Revolution he served in Capt. Benjamin
Emery's company.In I797 he was on the"list of Continental Soldiers" en-
listed at the time of the"Oxford %u:".He was a man of definite importanees
in the townea citizen of most estimable type.After his death in 1805,his
new brilck house and the milis passed through yaried ownershipypand even-
tually became the properﬁy of Moses Bullen in 1811,

Mrs. Bullen bore the unusual name of "China" and 1s so listed
among the early members of the Concord Female Charitable Soclety.Her
husband became lnvolved in multiple law sults and thus dissipated his
large property at Millville,and the family moved to Chichester.When this
Millville property was advertised for sale in the N.H.Patriot(Jar.I6,
1837),1t included="brick dwelling house;near 1t a new and convenient
dwelling house and'storegh other dwelling housen,and 2 grist mills,adaw
mlll; g lapboafd-midll,2 shingle mille,and a large chair factory.'"There
were sixty to seventy acres of land end"near the saw mlll on the Hopkin-
road(1l.e.Powell's Hook) is a bed of clay."The store stood where the
School flag staff 1s today.Ip the century since Barachias F%rnum bullt
his lonely grist mill changes had taken place.

Much of the Bullen property came into the hands of Jdcob B.Moore,
a prominent printer and publisher in Concord.He o;ened a printing office
in the old grist mill and did job printing.About that time an out=of=-
state company opened the chalr factory using beech and birch wood for
their product and eﬁploying upwards of forty mew in the enterprise.

As the nlneteenth century progressed the greater change in Mill-
ville became imminent.Dr.George Shattuck of Boston purchased the brick
house and a smell farm surrounding it,for use as a summer home.later he
conceived the idea of making it a preparatory school for boys under the

auspices of the Episcopal Church.To that end,in I855,he deeded the prop-
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erty .Our picture shows the o0ld brick houe gnlarged to be used in the
early years of famous St.Paul’s School.On July 21,1878 it was struck by
lightning and t4otally destiroyed.

In the Town Records for Aug.27,I1798 we find-"Voted that the Select-
men fence a quarter of an acre of Land near John Currier's house with a
post and boards for a burying ground."This land for Millville cemetery
was gilven by Warren Bradley,son of JeremiahHBradley,and'the first burial
was that of Mrs.Sally Dimond,first wife of John Dimond who lived on Di-
mond road.The second was that of the o0ld pioneer on Dimond hill,Ezekilel
Dimond,in February I800.Because of its status as a thriving communilty,
Millville had a public school very early in 1ts"history.1n 1801 its peo-
ple united with the Dimond hill neighborhood in a plan for an adeguate
schoolhouse.They voted one hundred and forty dollars to erect a bullding
"on Pine hill near Stephen Hall's".This was very near the new cemeiery
and according to Daniel Clark's diary,the school was"raised" on Oct.I8,
1802.0n Jan.3I,I1803,"Master plumer began School in the new house."

The schoolhouse stood somewhat south of the cemetery and its
specifications called for a house 24 x 28 feet,with = I2 foot posts and
a ﬁipwzpof.The sides were to be covered"with sawed clapboards.”The costs
of ﬁhiiding and maintéinance were to be»providad by sglling rights or
shares to the proprietors of the enterprise who organized themselves as
the Federal School District.Each member was privileged to send all his

children to the school while outsiders might send pupils by paylng a «
weekly fee of fourteen cents.Before long this tuition was considered too
high and 1t was reduced to a sixpence.lsaac Dimond was given permission
to build a pulpit In the schoolhouse and to hold religlousvservices
there, |
Federal School District was continued independently untlil the fall
of IBOT when,by vote of the inhabitants of Millville it became the Seve

enth School District of Concord.In Daniel Clark's notes in hils diary on
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Sept .5, 1816,we fina-"Moved Market Schoolhouse",referring to its original
location at Fush Market.Its destination was a corner of}ﬁzkinson Wehater
farm at the foot of Dimond hill and there it stands today,the oldeat
original schoolhouse in Concord.It ls somewhat changed having been shorn
of 1ts little cupola which was probably not original.Raised on a new
foundation it is now a dwelling.

Meanwhile the o0ld mill at the lower falls continued to grind its
grist although it had competlitlon in a newer mill at Powell's Hook.In the
years between Moses Bullen's ownershlp and the opening of St.Paul's
School,Theodore Abbott,grandson of Benjamin Abbot of the 0ld red house
on the corner of South St.and Bog rﬁad(Clinton St.),bought the ancient
mill and gave it a thorough renovating.Across the fields on Bog road
lived Capt.Amos Paul and he with Horatlo G.Belknap,bullt six or seven

new wheels for the mill (IB}B)?Dr.Robert Hall who 1lived on. Dunbarton road
west of Great Turkey pond,was then the miller.Capt.Paul lived in thé
house shown as it stands today,bullt by Col.John Carter for his son,

William M.Carter and sold by the latter to Capt.Paul.

Theodore Abbott made his home in the brick house bullt by Jacob
Carter and he fitted up a cutlery shop on the second floor of $he mill.
In I841 he contracted to furnish members of Congress with all the cute
lery needed for their desks in the Capltol at Washington,including pen
knlves for their quill pens,and paper cutters.Mr.Abbott also made locks
at a nearby smlithy.In later years he moved to Manchester and was one of
that city's earliest mayors.

The "o0ld red mill"rounded out very nearly two centuries of serve
lce but its last years were humbled by use. as the School laundry.Final-
ly it was torn down and only the old mill pond remains -today the cen-

ter of School-boy work and play and dreams.



